

JEFF ATWATER
President



THE FLORIDA LEGISLATURE

OFFICE OF ECONOMIC AND DEMOGRAPHIC RESEARCH

LARRY CRETUL
Speaker



October 1, 2010

The Honorable Jeff Atwater
President, Florida Senate
409 The Capitol
Tallahassee, FL 32399-1100

Dear President Atwater:

Section 288.106(4)(c)2, F.S., directs the Office of Economic and Demographic Research to:

“...review and evaluate the methodology and model used to calculate the return on investment of the Qualified Target Industry refund program and report its findings...to the President of Senate and the Speaker of the House of Representatives.”

It is an honor to present to you the findings and recommendations of our office. A copy of the final report is attached.

The draft report was shared with key staff at Enterprise Florida, Inc. and the Office of Tourism, Trade and Economic Development. Based on their feedback, several important adjustments were made to the final report. More importantly, meaningful discussion has begun on ways to reconfigure the current model to achieve more realistic projections for state revenues. While the new legislation does not call for further review until the summer of 2013, the Office of Economic and Demographic Research would like to offer ongoing assistance as policymakers hold discussions on the future of all incentive-based programs for economic development and the staff at Enterprise Florida, Inc. and the Office of Tourism, Trade and Economic Development begin to refine and develop their models.

Please do not hesitate to contact me if you have any questions.

Sincerely,

A handwritten signature in cursive script that reads "Amy J. Baker".

Amy J. Baker
Coordinator

Attachment: Tax Refund Program for Qualified Target Industry Business: A Review of the
Methodology and Model Used in Determining the State's Return on Investment.

CC: David Cooper, Staff Director
Jose Diez-Arguelles, Staff Director

JEFF ATWATER
President



LARRY CRETUL
Speaker



THE FLORIDA LEGISLATURE

OFFICE OF ECONOMIC AND DEMOGRAPHIC RESEARCH

October 1, 2010

The Honorable Larry Cretul
Speaker, Florida House of Representatives
420 The Capitol
Tallahassee, FL 32399-1300

Dear Mr. Speaker:

Section 288.106(4)(c)2, F.S., directs the Office of Economic and Demographic Research to:

“...review and evaluate the methodology and model used to calculate the return on investment of the Qualified Target Industry refund program and report its findings...to the President of Senate and the Speaker of the House of Representatives.”

It is an honor to present to you the findings and recommendations of our office. A copy of the final report is attached.

The draft report was shared with key staff at Enterprise Florida, Inc. and the Office of Tourism, Trade and Economic Development. Based on their feedback, several important adjustments were made to the final report. More importantly, meaningful discussion has begun on ways to reconfigure the current model to achieve more realistic projections for state revenues. While the new legislation does not call for further review until the summer of 2013, the Office of Economic and Demographic Research would like to offer ongoing assistance as policymakers hold discussions on the future of all incentive-based programs for economic development and the staff at Enterprise Florida, Inc. and the Office of Tourism, Trade and Economic Development begin to refine and develop their models.

Please do not hesitate to contact me if you have any questions.

Sincerely,

A handwritten signature in cursive script that reads "Amy J. Baker".

Amy J. Baker
Coordinator

Attachment: Tax Refund Program for Qualified Target Industry Business: A Review of the Methodology and Model Used in Determining the State's Return on Investment.

CC: Teresa Tinker, Council Director
Mark Kruse, Staff Director
Don Langston, Council Director



OFFICE OF ECONOMIC
& DEMOGRAPHIC RESEARCH

Tax Refund Program for Qualified Target Industry Business

A review of the methodology and model used in
determining the state's return on investment

9/1/2010

The Legislature has directed EDR to review the model and methodology used by Enterprise Florida to calculate the return on investment for the Qualified Target Industry Tax Refund incentive. EDR shall report its findings by September 1 of every 3rd year beginning September 1, 2010.

This page intentionally left blank.

Executive Summary

This report was created to meet the requirements of HB 7109, An Act Relating to the Tax Refund Program for Qualified Target Industry Businesses. This bill requires The Office of Economic and Demographic Research (EDR) to review and evaluate the model and methodology used by Enterprise Florida, Inc to determine the state's return on the investment for businesses that participate in the Qualified Target Industry Refund Program. Among other things, this report reviews the model in its current form, which has not yet been modified to meet the requirements of the new legislation. It provides recommendations on both the current model and the changes needed to meet the requirements set forth in the new legislation.

Recommendations to the existing model are intended to move the model incrementally closer to the new return on investment (ROI) requirements set forth by the Legislature. They should be viewed as interim measures, pending completion of the new ROI model that will be ultimately required. While the recommendations may require additional resources, EDR has attempted to identify minimal changes with relatively minor costs. If EFI and OTTED know of alternative adjustments that are less costly, those alternatives should be pursued. For example, EDR has provided recommendations for the calculations of "other taxes"; if these changes are too costly, EFI could choose to drop that calculation out of the model completely.

While the revisions to the law require that a ROI calculation be made for each QTI project, policymakers should re-evaluate whether this is the best measure for the program. One way to accomplish this is by clearly defining the program's principal purpose and identifying the nature of a successful project. The measure should ultimately reflect those goals. This same discussion should also be held for the other incentive-based programs.

In any circumstances, the payback ratio should be reconfigured to remove unrealistic revenue expectations.

Background

Florida's Qualified Target Industry (QTI) Tax Refund Program authorized in section 288.106, Florida Statutes, is an economic incentives program designed to encourage the creation of high-wage, high-quality jobs and the growth of targeted industries in the state. The program provides new or expanding businesses in a targeted industry that create at least 10 new jobs paying 115 percent of the state average annual wage the opportunity to receive tax refunds of up to \$3,000 per new job created, or up to \$6,000 in an Enterprise Zone, Brownfield, or a rural county. (There are additional per job incentives of \$1,000 for businesses paying 150 percent of the state average annual wage and \$2,000 for jobs paying 200 percent of the state average

annual wage.) There is a cap of \$5 million per single qualified applicant in all years, and no more than 25 percent of the total refund approved may be taken in any single fiscal year.¹

Today, Enterprise Florida Inc. (EFI) works with businesses and economic development partners to determine whether projects are eligible for the program. A financial commitment from the local community (through the passage of a city or county resolution) is required before a project can be approved at the state level by the Office of Tourism, Trade, and Economic Development (OTTED). Statute requires OTTED to review and evaluate the applicant's expected economic contributions based on the state strategic economic development plan adopted by EFI². A business that is interested in participation in the program must submit a project overview to EFI that specifies the number of jobs to be created, the capital investment to be made and the average wages to be paid. Currently, EFI reviews the application and develops an economic impact analysis for the project. EFI uses RIMS II multipliers provided by the U.S. Department of Commerce's Bureau of Economic Analysis (BEA) and a model developed in-house to determine a payback ratio, "indicating the amount of state taxes and related revenues that will be generated per dollar invested by the state in incentives to the business."³ Based on the impact analysis, EFI makes a recommendation to OTTED. OTTED reviews the recommendation and gives final approval of the project. OTTED then executes a contract with the business, monitors the project's performance and issues refunds as the objectives are met.

In 2010, House Bill 7109, An Act Relating to the Tax Refund Program for Qualified Target Industry Businesses, was passed and became law (Chapter 2010-136, Laws of Florida). The bill created section 288.106(4)(c)2, Florida Statutes, which directs the Office of Economic and Demographic Research (EDR) to "review and evaluate the methodology and model used to calculate the return on investment" of the tax refund and incentive programs for Qualified Target Industries. In addition to the expected economic contributions currently required, the bill requires OTTED to review and evaluate an application using return on investment as criteria. The bill also defines "return on investment" (ROI) to be the gain in state revenues as a percentage of the state's investment. The investment includes incentives such as state grants, tax exemptions, tax refunds, tax credits, and other state incentives.⁴ This report presents EDR's assessment of the current estimating process and issues in implementing the new requirements for determining the return on investment.

Determining Florida's Payback

EFI works with businesses interested in locating or expanding in Florida to determine whether the project is eligible for the QTI refund. If the business appears to be eligible, the applicant provides EFI with a general project overview which EFI puts into an economic model that

¹ Section 288.106(2)(b), F.S.

² Section 288.106(3)(c), F.S.

³ 2009 Incentives Report – A Progress Report on Programs Funded from the Economic Development Incentives Account, Enterprise Florida

⁴ Section 288.106(1)(q), F.S.

calculates the benefit to the state in revenue relative to the state's investment in the business. The information used in the model from the overview includes the:

- Total number of new jobs
- Job creation schedule
- Average wage commitment

EFI names the end result from the model a "payback ratio". In their terminology, a payback ratio is a mechanism used to measure the amount of tax revenue returned to the state over a multi-year period for each dollar of tax refunds spent under the QTI Program. EFI's 2009 Incentives Report states that since the program's inception, QTI has had a 10-year payback ratio of \$14.52 returned for every \$1 spent. The amount of tax revenue returned to the state is estimated by forecasting increased tax revenues created by three types of economic activities that occur during a project's lifecycle:

- operations,
- construction/repair,
- and purchases of machinery and other equipment.

EFI Model Calculations

The applicant provides an estimate of the number of new jobs created directly from the operations of the business. This is used to estimate the number of indirect and induced jobs that result from the increased economic activity. The indirect and induced jobs are calculated by multiplying the number of direct jobs with a RIMS II multiplier for that region and type of industry.⁵ The direct, indirect and induced jobs and their prospective earnings are used to estimate operational output and new wages in that region.⁶

The schedule of construction dollars spent determines the total earnings derived from the construction. The model takes the amount spent on construction and multiplies it by the RIMS II multiplier for construction in that region to determine the economic effect across all industries in that region.

The schedule of capital investment in machinery and other non-manufacturing equipment are categorized as either manufacturing equipment, Research & Development equipment, or other non-manufacturing equipment (computers, office furniture, etc.) The estimated number of direct and indirect jobs created in the region due to the increased output from the capital investment is derived by combining the investment with a multiplier for each category and

⁵ RIMS II multipliers are regional input-output multipliers that can be used to estimate the impact of a final-demand change on total gross output, earnings, employment, and value added.

⁶ The regions used in EFI's model are based on multi-county areas in the state. They are grouped as: Apalachee, Central, East Central, East Coast, North/Central, Northeast, South, Southwest, West, West Central

increasing it by the wholesale/transportation margin⁷ for Florida. Earnings are derived by adjusting the total investment (deflated to 2007 dollars⁸ and combined with the wholesale and transportation margin) and then using a RIMS multiplier to calculate the direct and indirect earnings against the adjusted investment dollars.

The probability that the project will lead to strong business growth in Florida is graded based on the estimated long term commitment, investment, size of the workforce, and stability of the industry. These scores are based not on objective criteria, but on EFI's reviewer's experience with similar industries. Using pre-determined probabilities assigned to the various scores, the annual range after 5 years is between 40% and 95%. A lower grade will reduce the estimated fiscal impact of a project in the out years.

Refund Request is a straightforward calculation. A business may receive a maximum of 25 percent of the total refund approved in any fiscal year. There is a cap of \$5 million per single qualified applicant across all years. The refunds must be granted on taxes paid, which includes sales tax, corporate income tax, and ad valorem tax. **For the purposes of the current calculation, this is the state's investment in the program.**

The use of RIMS II multipliers is an accepted method for estimating financial impacts by deploying specific regional input-output (I-O) multipliers. It is used for impact analysis when geographical and industrial detailed information on the initial changes in output, earnings or employment associated with a project or program are available. The multipliers can then be used to estimate the total impact (direct, indirect and induced) of the project on regional output, earnings, or employment.

EFI Fiscal Impact

Total Fiscal Impact is the estimated tax revenue resulting from the economic impact of project operations, construction, and purchases of machinery and other equipment. In the model, this is a calculated number based on uniform effective tax rates. **Estimated taxes on the output and earnings that may be generated by the project is deemed the payback to the state.**

⁷ Final demand changes are expressed as producer prices. The difference between the price a consumer pays for a good at retail (purchaser price) and the producer price the manufacturer receives includes the cost of transporting the goods and the wholesale retail markups. Transactions in commodities are valued at producers' prices in the input-output (I-O) accounts. Producers' prices exclude wholesale and retail trade margins and transportation costs, but they include excise and sales taxes collected and remitted by producers. Transportation costs and trade margins are shown as separate purchases by the users of the commodities. The sum of the producers' value, transportation costs, and trade margins equals the purchasers' value.

⁸ EFI's model uses 2007 as the base year to adjust for inflation. Estimates are expressed as current dollars in the base year of the model.

Project Operations Fiscal Impact is the sales tax, “other” taxes and fees and corporate income tax revenues generated from the operations of the project. The fiscal impact analysis assumes tax revenue collection on all earnings and increased output due to the operations, including the multiplier effect.

Sales Tax Revenue is calculated by multiplying an effective sales tax rate by the estimated direct sales (output) and indirect sales (output). The effective sales tax rate is calculated by dividing the total state portion of sales tax in a fiscal year (using Revenue Estimating Conference (REC) estimates) by the total output in private sectors likely to generate sales taxes. (EFI makes this determination.) The direct sales/output of the project operations are calculated by taking the earnings of the operations (new jobs multiplied by average wage as provided in the businesses project application) and dividing it by the percent of industry earnings as a ratio to all costs for that type of industry.⁹ The indirect and induced portion is then generated by applying a multiplier to the direct sales/output estimate. The direct and indirect sales/output are added together, and multiplied by the effective tax rate to get projected sales tax revenue.

For example: EFI wants to determine the sales tax revenue of a new data processing facility in Brevard County. The applicant provides the average salary (\$40,000) and number of projected new jobs (100). The total compensation (\$4,000,000) is then divided by the percent of the information industry’s total output that is spent on employee compensation. (See Table 1.) The estimated earnings would then be divided by the compensation as a percentage of sector output (\$4,000,000/20.7%) to calculate the expected total direct output of \$19,321,524. The regional multiplier for the information industry operations (2.1288)¹⁰ would be applied to the direct output of \$19,321,524 to calculate the indirect output (\$41,131,660). The total output (\$60,453,184) is multiplied by the effective sales tax rate (1.86%) to determine the total sales tax revenue as a result of the total output of the data processing facility operations (\$1,124,429).

[SEE TABLE ON NEXT PAGE]

⁹ Source: Bureau of Economic Analysis; The Use of Commodities by Industries Before Redefinitions (1997 to 2008)

¹⁰ This multiplier represents the total dollar change in output that occurs in all industries for each additional dollar of output delivered to final demand by the corresponding industry (RIMS II multipliers (2002/2007), Total Multipliers for Output, Earnings, Employment, and Value Added by Detailed Industry, East Central Florida)

Table 1.

Commodities / Industries		51
IOCode	Name	Information
11	Agriculture, forestry, fishing, and hunting	0.7
21	Mining	1299.5
22	Utilities	6773.6
23	Construction	8808.2
31G	Manufacturing	79380.2
42	Wholesale trade	13956.3
44RT	Retail trade	203.4
48TW	Transportation and warehousing	18058.9
51	Information	157378.1
FIRE	Finance, insurance, real estate, rental, and leasing	69930.1
PROF	Professional and business services	175875.7
6	Educational services, health care, and social assistance	335.1
7	Arts, entertainment, recreation, accommodation, and food services	27814.7
81	Other services, except government	11146.7
G	Government	5014.2
Used	Scrap, used and secondhand goods	0.4
Other	Noncomparable imports and rest-of-the-world adjustment /1/	13526.1
	Sum of Intermediate Selected	589501.9
	Intermediate Not Selected	0
	Total Intermediate	589501.9
V001	Compensation of employees	244951.5
V002	Taxes on production and imports, less subsidies	41114.9
V003	Gross operating surplus	307640.8
	Sum of Value Added Selected	593707.3
	Sum of Value Added Not Selected	0
	Total Value Added	593707.3
	Total Industry Output	1183209.1

Compensation as a % of Sector Output

20.7%

“Other Tax” Revenue is calculated by multiplying the total earnings of the operations by the effective tax rate for taxes other than corporate and sales tax. The effective “other tax” rate is determined by dividing all “other taxes” estimated by the REC for a fiscal year by the total personal income for the state by calendar year released by BEA. The “other taxes” include fees and licenses, gross receipts tax, documentary stamp tax, medical and hospital fees, corporate filing fees, severance tax, slot machine, citrus taxes, etc. The revenue forecasts used by EFI appear to be updated once a year.

Corporate Income Tax Revenue is derived by multiplying an effective corporate income tax rate against the project’s projected total output. The direct output is given a 50-100% if the business is exempt from corporate income tax. The model does not indicate how the exemption is determined. The effective corporate income tax rate is calculated by dividing the total corporate income tax in a fiscal year (using REC estimates) by the total output in private sectors. This list contains the same sectors used for the sales tax effective rate. The 50-100%

reduction is based on the amount of the applicant's investment.¹¹ EFI has explained that this reduction is used for another incentives program.

Construction Fiscal Impact is calculated by adding the sales tax collected on materials, the sales tax on indirect output and the "other tax" revenues from earnings.

To calculate the sales tax on purchased materials, the construction dollars provided in the project application (deflated to 2007 dollars) are multiplied by the percent of the construction project that is materials¹² and that product is then multiplied by the state sales tax rate (6%).

Sales tax on indirect output is derived by multiplying the construction dollars by the RIMS II multiplier for construction final demand in output in that region times the effective sales tax rate on total output.

"Other taxes" on earnings is calculated by taking the estimated construction dollars (deflated to 2007 dollars) times the RIMS II multiplier for construction final demand in earnings in that region times the effective "other tax" rate.

Fiscal Impact of Machinery and Other Equipment is calculated by adding the sales tax on non-structure purchases, sales tax on indirect output from manufacturing equipment, sales tax on indirect output other equipment and "other tax" on total earnings. Sales tax on non-structure purchases is calculated by taking the sum of taxable manufacturing investment and non-manufacturing investment (deflated) times the state sales tax rate. The investment dollars are provided by the applicant in the original project overview.

The sales tax on indirect output of purchasing manufacturing equipment is calculated by taking the taxable manufacturing investment (deflated) times the RIMS II multiplier for machinery demand in output times the effective sales tax rate on output.

The sales tax on indirect output of purchasing other equipment is calculated by taking the taxable non-manufacturing investment (deflated) times the RIMS II multiplier for non-manufacturing equipment demand in output times the effective sales tax rate on output.

"Other tax" revenue is projected on the total earnings generated by the capital investment on machinery and other equipment.

¹¹ If estimated investment is less than \$50 million 50% of the direct sales/output is assumed to be exempt; if the estimated investment is less than \$100 million, 75% of the direct sales/output is assumed to be exempt; if the investment is greater than \$100 million, 100% of the direct sales/output is assumed to be exempt.

¹² There is no reference in EFI's model that indicates where this number is derived from (69%).

Effective tax rates are categorized as an effective sales tax rate, effective “other tax” rate or an effective corporate income tax rate. The effective sales tax rate is the result of taking the total general sales and use tax estimated to be collected during a fiscal year and dividing it by the total output in private sectors that were believed to generate sales tax¹³. The “other” tax rate is the fiscal year collection forecast of taxes and fees other than corporate and sales tax divided by Total Personal Income¹⁴. An effective corporate income tax rate is calculated by taking the total corporate income tax collection divided by the total output of private industries likely to collect sales tax.

Findings on EFI Model

NEW OR EXPANDING PROJECTS

A. Construction analysis

In EFI’s model, the fiscal impact of construction is the total of the sales tax on the purchased materials, the sales tax on indirect output, and “other tax” revenues from the earnings of new direct and indirect (and induced) jobs created from the project.

BEA’s RIMS handbook¹⁵ includes case studies that illustrate four types of projects in which a RIMS II multiplier can be used in estimating a fiscal impact. The first case study, *Constructing and Operating a Sports Facility* describes the impact of the construction and operations of a sports facility on a regional economy using RIMS II multipliers.

In the handbook, BEA recommends estimating the economic impact of a new or expanding facility in two phases, (separately treating the construction and the operations) to determine the fiscal impact. EFI’s model separately calculates the fiscal impact of construction and operations, but also calculates the fiscal impact of the purchase of machinery and other equipment.

There are three methods that can be used to estimate the impact of construction:

- Using data on final-demand changes,
- Using data on initial changes in earnings and employment (BEA’s recommended method)¹⁶, or
- Using data on changes in the bill-of-goods.

¹³ Gross output in private sectors data provided by Global Insight, June 2010

¹⁴ Source: BEA Annual State Personal Income. www.bea.gov SA1-3 Personal Income Table 2008

¹⁵ REGIONAL MULTIPLIERS: A User Handbook for the Regional Input-Output Modeling System (RIMS II) 1997

¹⁶ See footnote 15.

The investment in construction is a change in final demand for the construction, maintenance and repair industry because construction is a final good. The change in final demand is determined using the multipliers for output, earnings, and employment. EFI's model closely follows BEA's case study in estimating the economic impact of the construction of a new facility. However, the calculation of the fiscal impact for construction may be overstated as:

- EFI indicates that 69% of a construction project is materials. Data published by BEA shows that this percentage was closer to 50% in 2008.¹⁷
- A refund is already available for sales taxes paid on the purchase of building materials used to rehabilitate real property located in an Enterprise Zone.
- Adding "other tax" revenues on the earnings from construction jobs assumes that these are new jobs created solely for this project. Construction jobs are normally temporary contract positions that move on after completion. EFI should research how the size of the construction project impacts employment in the construction trade.

B. Operations Analysis

In BEA's case study, the revenues and jobs from operations of the new facility are used to determine the increase in final demand. EFI's model estimates the output by applying industry data on wages as a percentage of sector output to the estimated earnings of new employees for the project. The data is broken into 16 industries. In their review of the QTI Refund Program in 2005, Global Insight¹⁸ recommended that EFI ask QTI applicants to provide estimates of the increase in output to make the calculations more straightforward. BEA recommends using the bill of goods method to determine the economic impact of a new facility's operations. Unfortunately, this information is not available from the project overview.

Using data on final-demand changes requires the amount of investment in the construction of the facility, which is information provided in the project overview of a QTI applicant. Using data on initial changes in earnings and employment or on changes in the bill-of-goods requires the number of construction jobs and associated earnings and the goods and services purchased. This data is not available in the QTI project overview.

Effective Tax Rates

A major driver of the payback ratio is the effective tax rates. The effective sales tax rate is derived from taking the total general sales and use tax estimated to be collected during a fiscal year and dividing it by the total output in private sectors that were believed to generate sales

¹⁷ The Use of Commodities by Industries before Redefinitions for 2008, <http://www.bea.gov/industry/iotables/>

¹⁸ Florida Qualified Target Industry Tax Refund Program, An Independent Analysis, Collins Center for Public Policy Inc, Global Insight February 2005

tax¹⁹. These industries include utilities, wholesale and retail trade, transportation, construction, hospitals and manufacturing. As used in the EFI analysis, the effective tax rates are problematic as:

- The effective sales tax rate does not appear to take into consideration the structure of sales tax collection in Florida. The above industries generally do not generate taxable output except for retail trade and utilities (and even then, sales tax and gross receipts on utilities are generally exempt for industrial manufacturers).²⁰
- The model presented to EDR to review used an old forecast of general sales and use tax collection that was not updated to reflect actual fiscal year collections. The forecast was greater than actual collections in that fiscal year (FY 08/09).
- The effective sales tax rate is a generalized assumption that all sales tax collected can be divided by the output of business sectors likely to collect sales tax and that rate will apply to the output of any industry applying for the QTI refund program. This assumes the output of a specific industry to reflect the behavior of all industries, which is unlikely.
- The effective “other” tax rate included taxes and fees that are industry specific. For example, a call center would not pay a severance tax on oil and gas extraction or phosphate mining, nor would they pay a tobacco or alcohol tax. Included are taxes generally paid by private citizens as well, including motor vehicle fees, documentary stamp taxes, Article V fees, and gross receipts.
- A very small percentage of corporations are structured as corporations that are liable for paying corporate income tax. A good way to filter these corporations out is to request on the overview whether the business is a C-corporation or liable for federal income tax.

Effective Sales Tax Rate

The unique structure of each business and its outputs, as well as existing economic incentives program, needs to be taken into account when considering the possible tax revenue from those outputs. Many of the targeted industries do not have taxable output/sales, nor do they make taxable purchases of some items. Incorporating Florida’s specific tax structure would yield more accurate results. The main type of business operations that participate in the QTI refund program are: Headquarters, Manufacturers, Distribution Centers, Call Centers, Research and Development, IT, and Business Office Services.²¹ Many of these industries’ end products are a service. Except for a few exceptions, services are not taxed in Florida. Existing exemptions and other incentives programs (Brownfield Redevelopment, Enterprise Zones or other economically

¹⁹ Global Insight, June 2010

²⁰ Section 203.01(3)(d), Florida Statutes, Section 212.08(7)(ff)(2), Florida Statutes

²¹ The Florida Senate – Interim Report 2010-211 December 2009 “Sunset Review of the Qualified Target Industry Tax Refund Incentive Program, Section 288.106, F.S.”

distressed areas) are also not taken into consideration. An estimated 27 percent of completed or active projects are located in these areas²².

For example: a particular manufacturing project's operations are determined to create total direct and indirect output of \$32 million (calculated based on earnings). However, a portion of the direct output or sales of the manufacturer is non-taxable because the applicant ships it directly out of the state. The manufacturer also purchases equipment from a local wholesaler, but items used to manufacture a finished product are taxable to the end user, therefore the purchases are exempt from sales tax²³. While the applicant includes the value of machinery equipment, this information is not used. On the other hand, it is fair in most circumstances for the model to assume that sales or use tax must be paid on all non-machinery equipment purchases. Except in this case, the manufacturer is located within an Enterprise Zone and purchases made over \$5000 and are used for 3 years in the Enterprise Zone are refunded on sales tax paid up to 97%. All of these circumstances make the \$32 million overstated.

Effective "Other Tax" Rate

The effective "other tax" rate is used to determine the increased revenues expected from new jobs created in Florida. These taxes and fees include those that are generally paid by businesses (such as corporate filings fees, severance taxes, pari-mutuels, etc.). They should be filtered out of the calculation for taxes and fees mostly paid by individuals (such a motor vehicle and license fees, documentary stamp tax, cigarette tax, etc.) The model logic should be revisited for estimating increased revenues on earnings due to the direct, indirect and induced economic effect of creating new jobs.

Moreover, it is questionable to what extent new jobs in Florida would increase the revenue from taxes and fees mainly paid by individuals. The incentives can be used to current Floridian residents. Many of the taxes and fees already imposed on Floridians would not increase based on the person's income, and there is no personal income tax in Florida. For example, if John Smith is hired to work at ABC Project Call Center, being paid 15% more than his current job, his increased earnings will not dramatically change how much he pays in cigarette taxes, park fees or gas taxes. With these types of taxes and fees, an incremental wage increase does not necessarily result in increased revenues to the state. Additional disposable income probably wouldn't alter the amount of cigarettes he smokes, the number of times he goes to the park, or his gas consumption. At the very least, the relationship between increased income and high taxes and fees paid is not one-to-one. This rate may be too burdensome to calculate and it may be more efficient and simpler to not calculate revenue from other taxes and fees altogether.

²² See footnote 21.

²³ Florida Department of Revenue – Manufacturers Standard Industry Guide r.08/10

Effective Corporate Income Tax Rate

Corporate income tax is paid by a small portion of businesses in Florida. Only those companies who have taxable federal income tax are required to file and pay state corporate income taxes. Using an effective rate that encompasses the output of all industries does not likely reflect the fiscal impact of increased output by corporate income tax payers. The applicant should be asked if the business is required to file a Florida corporate income tax return and the expected increased output from the project. The indirect output should be not used to calculate increased corporate income tax revenue since such a small portion of businesses in Florida pay corporate income tax.

Payback ratio

The term “payback ratio” is not a standardized economic or accounting concept, nor is it synonymous with “return on investment”. As used in EFI’s model, the payback ratio appears to represent the full impact of the industry on the economy, assuming for state purposes that none of the human or capital resources were otherwise employed. If this were not the case, then only the incremental changes would be relevant. Relative to a true ROI, the payback ratio overstates the benefit.

Probability

EFI uses a probability factor to represent the likelihood that the jobs created under the program will exist over time. Global Insight recommended in their 2005 report that EFI use a more advanced tool such as the @Risk add-in. This tool would perform simulations to determine the probability that the projected jobs would disappear over time. A Senate review of the QTI program in 2009²⁴ indicated that 57% of the QTI projects were inactive, terminated, vacated, withdrawn, or pending these statuses. (NOTE: OTTED indicates that this percentage includes applicants who choose not to locate the project in Florida.) Another method to measure the risk is to use available data on previous and existing projects. Rather than a subjective assignment of the risk factor, past business behavior would provide better insight into the future behavior of applicants.

²⁴ See footnote 21.

First Year Recommendations for EFI's Model

Payback ratio mechanism

- Request that the applicant provide the expected increased output from the operations. This information will help avoid using a broad industry wide average. If this data is not provided, using industry data narrowed down to the NAICS code will be more accurate.²⁵
- Separately estimate business sales tax using taxable purchases and personal sales tax expenditures using income spent on taxable items, rather than using an effective sales tax rate on output. The Internal Revenue Service (IRS)²⁶ provides a table annually for each state on expected sales tax paid based on income and number of exemptions. For expenditures on taxable business purchases, use the percentage of output that is related to retail trade and secondhand goods²⁷.
- Unless there a plausible explanation for basing the effective corporate income tax rate on total output of industries that are likely to pay sales tax, use a different method to determine the fiscal impact of corporate income tax. Identify which businesses are corporate income tax payers and request the project's estimated increased output. If a business is required to pay corporate income tax, estimate corporate income tax on the increased output.
- Update the compensation percentage of construction output.
- Create a matrix for "other taxes" that distinguishes taxes and fees paid by private citizens and businesses.
- Use state RIMS multipliers. Generally, as economic activity within a region decreases, the region depends more on imports. As leakage due to imports increases, the multiplier effect is reduced.²⁸ The size of the multiplier varies with the size of a community. A state multiplier would better reflect the fiscal impact of increased economic activity statewide.
- Timing of fiscal impacts. The current methodology assumes that 100% of the indirect revenue will be created in the same fiscal year. It would be beneficial to review the timing of the indirect outputs and evaluate whether 100% of the impact would be felt the first year.

²⁵ The North American Industry Classification System (NAICS) is the standard used by Federal statistical agencies in classifying business establishments for the purpose of collecting, analyzing, and publishing statistical data related to the U.S. business economy.

²⁶ <http://www.irs.gov/pub/irs-pdf/i1040sca.pdf>

²⁷ The Use of Commodities by Industry before Redefinitions 2008 - <http://www.bea.gov/industry/iotables/>

²⁸ DOEKSEN, GERALD A., AND CHARLES H. LITTLE, "Estimation of the Leakage of Output and Income from a Regional Economy Using Input-Output Analysis,"

- Compare EFI’s results with other similar models. The Minnesota IMPLAN Group has created an input/output model that is similar to RIMS. This model is also used in regional economic impact assessment. It estimates different state and local taxes and may be useful in this type of analysis.
- Enhance the probability grade to include data on the success of past projects.

Long Term ROI Recommendations

Section 288.106(2)(q), F.S., defines “return on investment” to mean “the gain in state revenues as a percentage of the state’s investment. The state’s investment includes state grants, tax exemptions, tax refunds, tax credits, and other state incentives.” Section 288.106(4)(c), F.S., requires OTTED to evaluate each QTI application based on the project’s economic contributions and the project’s return on investment. Conceptually, the return on investment (ROI) is a straightforward calculation that differs from the payback ratio in several key respects. The bullets below highlight these differences:

- **What question does ROI typically answer?**
Is there --- and what is --- the financial return to the state for investing in a program, process, initiative, or performance improvement solution?
- **What question does the Payback Ratio used by EFI answer?**
How many resources (human and capital) are touched --- directly or indirectly --- by the broadest possible scope of the project? And, what is the value to state government if 100% of these resources were taxable and attributed to the project, regardless of their deployment prior to or in the absence of the project’s commencement.
- **Does the new statutory language change current practice?**
Yes. The payback ratio is not the same thing as the ROI. Among other things, the payback ratio limits the state’s investment to the parameters of the QTI program. The statutory ROI clearly requires the inclusion of the entire array of state incentives available to the project, regardless of their origin or program affiliation. Ultimately, each applicant must be asked to identify the state incentives it expects to receive, as well as their projected value. This information should then be used within the calculation.

Further, the statutory emphasis on state tax revenue lifts the analysis from the determination of a localized benefit to an evaluation of the incremental state benefit. This means that simple movement from one location or deployment in Florida to another is offsetting and produces no inherent value. For a project to develop new value, the capital investment, new hires and / or indirect or induced expenditures:

- Would have to use resources that come from outside of the state,

- Be used for the first time within the state, or
 - Be used to a greater extent than they otherwise would have been.
- **Is the ROI the best measure for the QTI program?**
 It depends on what policymakers want to know and how they define success for the QTI Tax Refund Program. ROI is a good measure for programs and initiatives that are expected to generate additional revenues for the state or to pay for themselves. It is not an appropriate measure for a program’s overall value, inclusive of all positive externalities and social benefits. In economics, positive externalities are “spill-over” effects: benefits not captured by or transmitted through the price or payment, but which have positive effects on unrelated third parties. A social benefit is a gain to the general public. These concepts are more fully addressed within the framework of a cost-benefit analysis.

Moreover, providing incentives to the new or expanding businesses currently targeted by the QTI Tax Refund Program does not readily translate to increased tax revenue. Targeted industries such as the research and development, high technology, or manufacturing sectors generally do not have taxable output. The direct return to the state’s accounts will necessarily be suppressed for these types of projects.

To determine the best measure for the QTI program, policymakers must decide whether the program is primarily designed (1) to provide temporary financial assistance that will – at a minimum – be repaid directly to the state’s accounts, or (2) to improve Florida’s overall economy, regardless of whether there is any return to the state’s accounts. The current program design is actually mixed. For example, greater subsidies are given to projects in more distressed communities (i.e., brownfield areas and enterprise zones) which make it more unlikely that those projects will have a positive ROI or compare favorably to other projects on this measure.

- **What is the calculation for ROI?**
 The ROI calculation has the following form:

$$\text{ROI} = [(\text{Expected Tax Revenue Minus Any Costs}) / \text{State's Investment}] \times 100$$

[NOTE: Tax revenue can also be anticipated from alternative state investments, but since there is currently no standardized approach to looking at all options, it may be acceptable to measure these projects against themselves.]

Where:

Expected Tax Revenue Minus Any Costs = the *incremental* increase in expected state tax revenue *clearly* associated with the project

State’s Investment = the dollar value of all state grants, tax exemptions, tax refunds, tax credits, and other state incentives used by the project

- **Is it possible to have a negative ROI?**

Yes. If the costs to the state are greater than the expected tax revenues, the ROI will become negative. This result does not mean that the project has no value; it may have intangible benefits that have not been quantified. Even so, policymakers may find it important to compare the project's measured value relative to other projects. In this regard, they may accept that some degree of subsidization will be involved in achieving a desired outcome but desire an objective measure to determine the degree of that support.

- **What is the time horizon for the analysis?**

To have an unbiased analysis, expected tax revenues and the state's investment must be measured over the same time period. A common horizon should also ameliorate project deployment differences between years. Likewise, competing or funded projects should only be compared to other projects within its cohort (initial ROI, revised ROI after 1 year of operation, etc.). For example, ROIs computed prior to implementation are comparable, but ROI calculations made prior to project commencement should not be interspersed with revised calculations made after the projects are underway. To accurately portray the evolution of the project lifecycle, the initial ROI should be included with any subsequent presentation of a revised ROI for that project.

- **What follow-up should be done to compare the actual to the projection?**

After-the-fact reporting is an important quality improvement tool. ROIs that are updated to reflect actual paid refunds and state tax submissions would be essential to a well designed process. This means the conversion to ROI measurement should include agreements with the appropriate agencies and successful applicants to receive actual results and hard data.

EDR recognizes that it may take some time for EFI and OTTED to develop a pure ROI model. To this point, EDR has provided some short-term recommendations for the EFI model that will immediately improve the accuracy of the results used today. Over the longer term, EFI will need to develop a new model that comports with the statutes. We would expect the migration to a new model to be complete no later than December 2011 and well before the publication date for the next report, September 2013.

SB 1178 (Chapter 2010-101, Laws of Florida) directs the Office of Economic and Demographic Research (EDR) to develop protocols and procedures to use in special impact sessions of consensus estimating conferences to evaluate proposed legislation based on tools and models not generally employed by the conferences, including cost-benefit, return-on-investment, or dynamic scoring techniques, when suitable and appropriate for the legislation being evaluated. These protocols, procedures and tools – available in December – should be helpful to EFI and OTTED in the design of their new model.

Concluding Recommendation

While the revisions to the law require that a ROI calculation be made for each QTI project, policymakers should re-evaluate whether this is the best measure for the program. One way to accomplish this is by clearly defining the program's principal purpose and identifying the nature of a successful project. The measure should ultimately reflect those goals. This same discussion should also be held for the other incentive-based programs (SEE APPENDIX A).

In any circumstances, the payback ratio should be reconfigured to remove unrealistic revenue expectations.

Appendix A

Incentive Program	Statutory Reference	Statutory Requirement Language for ROI / Payback	Minimum ROI / Payback Requirement	Tool Used by EFI
Qualified Target Industry (QTI) Tax Refund	288.106(4)(c)2	(4)(c)Each application meeting the requirements of paragraph (b) must be submitted to the office for determination of eligibility. The office shall review and evaluate each application based on, but not limited to, the following criteria: 2.The return on investment of the proposed award of tax refunds under this section and the return on investment for state incentives proposed for the project. The Office of Economic and Demographic Research shall review and evaluate the methodology and model used to calculate the return on investment and report its findings by September 1 of every 3rd year, beginning September 1, 2010, to the President of the Senate and the Speaker of the House of Representatives. *"Return on Investment" also defined in (1)q	NA	RIMS II based Excel Model
Quick Action Closing Fund (QACF)	288.1088(2)b	(2)There is created within the Office of Tourism, Trade, and Economic Development the Quick Action Closing Fund. Projects eligible for receipt of funds from the Quick Action Closing Fund shall: (b)Have a positive payback ratio of at least 5 to 1.	Payback of 5 to 1	RIMS II based Excel Model
Innovation Incentive Program (IIF)	288.1089(4)(b) and (d)	(4)To qualify for review by the office, the applicant must, at a minimum, establish the following to the satisfaction of Enterprise Florida, Inc., and the office: (b)A research and development project must: 3.Provide the state, at a minimum, a break-even return on investment within a 20-year period. (d)For an alternative and renewable energy project in this state, the project must: 2.Provide the state, at a minimum, a break-even return on investment within a 20-year period;	Break-even return on investment within a 20-year period	REMI
Qualified Defense and Space Contractor (QDSC)	288.1045	NA	NA	RIMS II based Excel Model
Brownfield Bonus (BFB)	288.107	NA	NA	RIMS II based Excel Model
High Impact Performance Incentive (HIPI)	288.108	NA	NA	RIMS II based Excel Model
Capital Investment Tax Credit (CITC)	220.191	NA	NA	RIMS II based Excel Model

Appendix B

H7109 GENERAL BILL/CS by Economic Development & Community Affairs Policy Council; Economic Development Policy (EDCA); Carroll; (CO-SPONSORS) Dorworth; Fresen; Hasner; Holder; Horner; Mayfield; Plakon; Poppell; Tobia; Weatherford; T. Williams; Wood (Similar CS/CS/S 1856, Compare CS/CS/H 1509, CS/2ND ENG/S 1752)

Qualified Target Industry Tax Refund Program [WPSC]; Establishes schedule for OTTED to review & revise list of target industries & submit report to Governor & Legislature; revises criteria for evaluating applications for program; requires consideration of state's return on investment in evaluating applications for participation in program; requires EDR to submit reports to Legislature evaluating calculation of state's return on investment for program, etc. EFFECTIVE DATE: 07/01/2010.

1 *A bill to be entitled*
2 *An act relating to the tax refund program for qualified*
3 *target industry businesses; amending s. 288.106, F.S.;*
4 *providing legislative findings and declarations; revising*
5 *and providing definitions; establishing a schedule for the*
6 *Office of Tourism, Trade, and Economic Development to*
7 *review and revise the list of target industries and submit*
8 *a report to the Governor and Legislature; revising the*
9 *criteria for evaluating applications for the program;*
10 *requiring consideration of the state's return on*
11 *investment in evaluating applications for participation in*
12 *the program; requiring the Office of Economic and*
13 *Demographic Research to submit reports to the Legislature*
14 *evaluating the calculation of the state's return on*
15 *investment for the program; requiring that additional*
16 *provisions be included in tax refund agreements;*
17 *redesignating the economic-stimulus exemption as the*
18 *"economic recovery extension"; revising the date by which*
19 *qualified target industry businesses may request economic*
20 *recovery extensions; authorizing waiver of a requirement*
21 *that qualified target industry businesses annually provide*
22 *proof of taxes paid under certain conditions; requiring*
23 *the Office of Tourism, Trade, and Economic Development to*
24 *submit reports to the Governor and Legislature concerning*
25 *the failure of qualified target industry businesses to*
26 *complete their tax refund agreements; deleting obsolete*
27 *provisions; revising the date by which a target industry*
28 *business may be certified as qualified for the program;*
29 *conforming cross-references; amending ss. 288.1089 and*
30 *290.00677, F.S.; conforming provisions to changes made by*

31 the act; amending ss. 159.803, 220.191, and 288.107, F.S.;

32 conforming cross-references; providing an effective date.

33

34 Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida:

35

36 Section 1. Section 288.106, Florida Statutes, is amended

37 to read:

38 288.106 Tax refund program for qualified target industry

39 businesses.-

40 (1) LEGISLATIVE FINDINGS AND DECLARATIONS.-The Legislature

41 finds that retaining and expanding existing businesses in the

42 state, encouraging the creation of new businesses in the state,

43 attracting new businesses from outside the state, and generally

44 providing conditions favorable for the growth of target

45 industries creates high-quality, high-wage employment

46 opportunities for residents of the state and strengthens the

47 state's economic foundation. The Legislature also finds that

48 incentives narrowly focused in application and scope tend to be

49 more effective in achieving the state's economic development

50 goals. The Legislature further finds that higher-wage jobs

51 reduce the state's share of hidden costs, such as public

52 assistance and subsidized health care associated with low-wage

53 jobs. Therefore, the Legislature declares that it is the policy

54 of the state to encourage the growth of higher-wage jobs and a

55 diverse economic base by providing state tax refunds to

56 qualified target industry businesses that originate or expand in

57 the state or that relocate to the state.

58 (2)(~~1~~) DEFINITIONS.-As used in this section:

59 (a) "Account" means the Economic Development Incentives

60 Account within the Economic Development Trust Fund established

61 under s. 288.095.

62 (b)(~~1~~) "Authorized local economic development agency"

63 means a ~~any~~ public or private entity, including ~~an entity these~~

64 defined in s. 288.075, authorized by a county or municipality to

65 promote the general business or industrial interests of that

66 county or municipality.

67 (c)(~~1~~) "Average private sector wage in the area" means the

68 statewide private sector average wage or the average of all

69 private sector wages and salaries in the county or in the

70 standard metropolitan area in which the business is located.

71 (d)(~~1~~) "Business" means an employing unit, as defined in

72 s. 443.036, ~~that which~~ is registered for unemployment

73 compensation purposes with the state agency providing

74 unemployment tax collection services under contract with the

75 Agency for Workforce Innovation through an interagency agreement

76 pursuant to s. 443.1316, or a subcategory or division of an
77 employing unit ~~that which~~ is accepted by the state agency
78 providing unemployment tax collection services as a reporting
79 unit.

80 ~~(e)(4)~~ "Corporate headquarters business" means an
81 international, national, or regional headquarters office of a
82 multinational or multistate business enterprise or national
83 trade association, whether separate from or connected with other
84 facilities used by such business.

85 ~~(f)(4)~~ "Director" means the Director of the Office of
86 Tourism, Trade, and Economic Development.

87 ~~(g)(4)~~ "Enterprise zone" means an area designated as an
88 enterprise zone pursuant to s. 290.0065.

89 ~~(h)(4)~~ "Expansion of an existing business" means the
90 expansion of an existing Florida business by or through
91 additions to real and personal property, resulting in a net
92 increase in employment of not less than 10 percent at such
93 business.

94 ~~(i)(4)~~ "Fiscal year" means the fiscal year of the state.

95 ~~(j)(4)~~ "Jobs" means full-time equivalent positions,
96 including, but not limited to, positions obtained from a
97 temporary employment agency or employee leasing company or
98 through a union agreement or coemployment under a professional
99 employer organization agreement, that result ~~as that term is~~
100 consistent with terms used by the Agency for Workforce
101 Innovation and the United States Department of Labor for
102 purposes of unemployment compensation tax administration and
103 employment estimation, resulting directly from a project in this
104 state. The term does not include temporary construction jobs
105 involved with the construction of facilities for the project or
106 any jobs previously included in any application for tax refunds
107 under s. 288.1045 or this section.

108 ~~(k)(4)~~ "Local financial support" means funding from local
109 sources, public or private, ~~that which~~ is paid to the Economic
110 Development Trust Fund and ~~that which~~ is equal to 20 percent of
111 the annual tax refund for a qualified target industry business.
112 A qualified target industry business may not provide, directly
113 or indirectly, more than 5 percent of such funding in any fiscal
114 year. The sources of such funding may not include, directly or
115 indirectly, state funds appropriated from the General Revenue
116 Fund or any state trust fund, excluding tax revenues shared with
117 local governments pursuant to law.

118 ~~(l)(4)~~ "Local financial support exemption option" means
119 the option to exercise an exemption from the local financial
120 support requirement available to any applicant whose project is

121 located in a brownfield area, a rural city, or a rural community
122 ~~county with a population of 75,000 or fewer or a county with a~~
123 ~~population of 125,000 or fewer which is contiguous to a county~~
124 ~~with a population of 75,000 or fewer.~~ Any applicant that
125 exercises this option ~~is~~ shall not ~~be~~ eligible for more than 80
126 percent of the total tax refunds allowed such applicant under
127 this section.

128 ~~(m)(t)~~ "New business" means a business that applies for a
129 tax refund under this section before beginning operations ~~which~~
130 ~~heretofore did not exist~~ in this state, ~~first beginning~~
131 ~~operations on a site located in this state~~ and that is a legal
132 entity ~~clearly~~ separate from any other commercial or industrial
133 operations owned by the same business.

134 ~~(n)(e)~~ "Office" means the Office of Tourism, Trade, and
135 Economic Development.

136 ~~(o)(m)~~ "Project" means the creation of a new business or
137 expansion of an existing business.

138 ~~(p)(q)~~ "Qualified target industry business" means a target
139 industry business ~~that has been~~ approved by the office director
140 to be eligible for tax refunds under pursuant to this section.

141 ~~(q)~~ "Return on investment" means the gain in state
142 revenues as a percentage of the state's investment. The state's
143 investment includes state grants, tax exemptions, tax refunds,
144 tax credits, and other state incentives.

145 ~~(r)~~ "Rural county" means ~~a county with a population of~~
146 ~~75,000 or fewer or a county with a population of 100,000 or~~
147 ~~fewer which is contiguous to a county with a population of~~
148 ~~75,000 or fewer.~~

149 ~~(r)(s)~~ "Rural city" means a city having ~~with~~ a population
150 of 10,000 or fewer ~~less~~, or a city having ~~with~~ a population of
151 greater than 10,000 but fewer ~~less~~ than 20,000 that ~~which~~ has
152 been determined by the office ~~of Tourism, Trade, and Economic~~
153 ~~Development~~ to have economic characteristics such as, but not
154 limited to, a significant percentage of residents on public
155 assistance, a significant percentage of residents with income
156 below the poverty level, or a significant percentage of the
157 city's employment base in agriculture-related industries.

158 ~~(s)(t)~~ "Rural community" means:

- 159 1. A county having ~~with~~ a population of 75,000 or fewer.
- 160 2. A county having ~~with~~ a population of 125,000 or fewer
161 that ~~which~~ is contiguous to a county having ~~with~~ a population of
162 75,000 or fewer.
- 163 3. A municipality within a county described in
164 subparagraph 1. or subparagraph 2.

165

166 For purposes of this paragraph, population shall be determined
167 in accordance with the most recent official estimate pursuant to
168 s. 186.901.

169 (t)(e) "Target industry business" means a corporate
170 headquarters business or any business that is engaged in one of
171 the target industries identified pursuant to the following
172 criteria developed by the office in consultation with Enterprise
173 Florida, Inc.:

174 1. Future growth.-Industry forecasts should indicate
175 strong expectation for future growth in both employment and
176 output, according to the most recent available data. Special
177 consideration should be given to businesses that export goods
178 Florida's growing access to, or provide services in,
179 international markets and businesses that replace domestic and
180 international or to-replacing imports of goods or services.

181 2. Stability.-The industry should not be subject to
182 periodic layoffs, whether due to seasonality or sensitivity to
183 volatile economic variables such as weather. The industry should
184 also be relatively resistant to recession, so that the demand
185 for products of this industry is not typically necessarily
186 subject to decline during an economic downturn.

187 3. High wage.-The industry should pay relatively high
188 wages compared to statewide or area averages.

189 4. Market and resource independent.-The location of
190 industry businesses should not be dependent on Florida markets
191 or resources as indicated by industry analysis, except for
192 businesses in the renewable energy industry. Special
193 consideration should be given to the development of strong
194 industrial clusters which include defense and homeland security
195 businesses.

196 5. Industrial base diversification and strengthening.-The
197 industry should contribute toward expanding or diversifying the
198 state's or area's economic base, as indicated by analysis of
199 employment and output shares compared to national and regional
200 trends. Special consideration should be given to industries that
201 strengthen regional economies by adding value to basic products
202 or building regional industrial clusters as indicated by
203 industry analysis. Special consideration should also be given to
204 the development of strong industrial clusters that include
205 defense and homeland security businesses.

206 6. Economic benefits.-The industry is expected to should
207 have strong positive impacts on or benefits to the state or and
208 regional economies.

209
210 The term does office, in consultation with Enterprise Florida,

211 ~~Inc., shall develop a list of such target industries annually~~
212 ~~and submit such list as part of the final agency legislative~~
213 ~~budget request submitted pursuant to s. 216.023(1). A target~~
214 ~~industry business may not include any business industry engaged~~
215 ~~in retail industry activities; any electrical utility company;~~
216 ~~any phosphate or other solid minerals severance, mining, or~~
217 ~~processing operation; any oil or gas exploration or production~~
218 ~~operation; or any business firm subject to regulation by the~~
219 ~~Division of Hotels and Restaurants of the Department of Business~~
220 ~~and Professional Regulation. By January 1 of every 3rd year,~~
221 ~~beginning January 1, 2011, the office, in consultation with~~
222 ~~Enterprise Florida, Inc., economic development organizations,~~
223 ~~the State University System, local governments, employee and~~
224 ~~employer organizations, market analysts, and economists, shall~~
225 ~~review and, as appropriate, revise the list of such target~~
226 ~~industries and submit the list to the Governor, the President of~~
227 ~~the Senate, and the Speaker of the House of Representatives.~~

228 ~~(u)(p)~~ "Taxable year" means taxable year as defined in s.
229 220.03(1)(y).

230 ~~(3)(2)~~ TAX REFUND; ELIGIBLE AMOUNTS. -

231 (a) There shall be allowed, from the account, a refund to
232 a qualified target industry business for the amount of eligible
233 taxes certified by the ~~office that director which~~ were paid by
234 ~~the such~~ business. The total amount of refunds for all fiscal
235 years for each qualified target industry business must be
236 determined pursuant to subsection ~~(4) (3)~~. The annual amount of
237 a refund to a qualified target industry business must be
238 determined pursuant to subsection ~~(6) (5)~~.

239 (b)1. Upon approval by the ~~office director~~, a qualified
240 target industry business shall be allowed tax refund payments
241 equal to \$3,000 ~~multiplied by times~~ the number of jobs specified
242 in the tax refund agreement under subparagraph ~~(5)(4)(a)1.~~, or
243 equal to \$6,000 ~~multiplied by times~~ the number of jobs if the
244 project is located in a rural ~~community county~~ or an enterprise
245 zone.

246 2. ~~Further~~, A qualified target industry business shall be
247 allowed additional tax refund payments equal to \$1,000
248 ~~multiplied by times~~ the number of jobs specified in the tax
249 refund agreement under subparagraph ~~(5)(4)(a)1.~~, if such jobs
250 pay an annual average wage of at least 150 percent of the
251 average private sector wage in the area, or equal to \$2,000
252 ~~multiplied by times~~ the number of jobs if such jobs pay an
253 annual average wage of at least 200 percent of the average
254 private sector wage in the area.

255 (c) A qualified target industry business may not receive

256 refund payments of more than 25 percent of the total tax refunds
257 specified in the tax refund agreement under subparagraph
258 ~~(5)(4)~~(a)1. in any fiscal year. Further, a qualified target
259 industry business may not receive more than \$1.5 million in
260 refunds under this section in any single fiscal year, or more
261 than \$2.5 million in any single fiscal year if the project is
262 located in an enterprise zone. A qualified target industry
263 business may not receive more than \$5 million in refund payments
264 under this section in all fiscal years, or more than \$7.5
265 million if the project is located in an enterprise zone. ~~Funds~~
266 ~~made available pursuant to this section may not be expended in~~
267 ~~connection with the relocation of a business from one community~~
268 ~~to another community in this state unless the Office of Tourism,~~
269 ~~Trade, and Economic Development determines that without such~~
270 ~~relocation the business will move outside this state or~~
271 ~~determines that the business has a compelling economic rationale~~
272 ~~for the relocation and that the relocation will create~~
273 ~~additional jobs.~~

274 ~~(d)(e)~~ After entering into a tax refund agreement under
275 subsection ~~(5)~~ (4), a qualified target industry business may:

276 1. Receive refunds from the account for the following
277 taxes due and paid by that business beginning with the first
278 taxable year of the business ~~that~~ ~~which~~ begins after entering
279 into the agreement:

280 a. Corporate income taxes under chapter 220.

281 b. Insurance premium tax under s. 624.509.

282 2. Receive refunds from the account for the following
283 taxes due and paid by that business after entering into the
284 agreement:

285 a. Taxes on sales, use, and other transactions under
286 chapter 212.

287 b. Intangible personal property taxes under chapter 199.

288 c. Emergency excise taxes under chapter 221.

289 d. Excise taxes on documents under chapter 201.

290 e. Ad valorem taxes paid, as defined in s. 220.03(1).

291 f. State communications services taxes administered under
292 chapter 202. This provision does not apply to the gross receipts
293 tax imposed under chapter 203 and administered under chapter 202
294 or the local communications services tax authorized under s.
295 202.19.

296 ~~The addition of state communications services taxes administered~~
297 ~~under chapter 202 is remedial in nature and retroactive to~~
298 ~~October 1, 2001. The office may make supplemental tax refund~~
299 ~~payments to allow for tax refunds for communications services~~
300

301 ~~taxes paid by an eligible qualified target industry business~~
302 ~~after October 1, 2001.~~

303 ~~(e)(4)~~ However, a qualified target industry business may
304 not receive a refund under this section for any amount of
305 credit, refund, or exemption previously granted to that business
306 for any of ~~the such~~ taxes listed in paragraph (d). If a refund
307 for such taxes is provided by the office, which taxes are
308 subsequently adjusted by the application of any credit, refund,
309 or exemption granted to the qualified target industry business
310 other than as provided in this section, the business shall
311 reimburse the account for the amount of that credit, refund, or
312 exemption. A qualified target industry business shall notify and
313 tender payment to the office within 20 days after receiving any
314 credit, refund, or exemption other than one provided in this
315 section.

316 (f) Refunds made available under this section may not be
317 expended in connection with the relocation of a business from
318 one community to another community in the state unless the
319 office determines that, without such relocation, the business
320 will move outside the state or determines that the business has
321 a compelling economic rationale for relocation and that the
322 relocation will create additional jobs.

323 ~~(g)(e)~~ A qualified target industry business that
324 fraudulently claims a refund under this section:

325 1. Is liable for repayment of the amount of the refund to
326 the account, plus a mandatory penalty in the amount of 200
327 percent of the tax refund which shall be deposited into the
328 General Revenue Fund.

329 2. ~~Commits is guilty of~~ a felony of the third degree,
330 punishable as provided in s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 775.084.

331 ~~(4)(3)~~ APPLICATION AND APPROVAL PROCESS.-

332 (a) To apply for certification as a qualified target
333 industry business under this section, the business must file an
334 application with the office before the business ~~decides has made~~
335 ~~the decision~~ to locate ~~a new business~~ in this state or before
336 the business ~~decides had made the decision~~ to expand ~~its an~~
337 existing ~~operations business~~ in this state. The application must
338 ~~shall~~ include, but ~~need is~~ not be limited to, the following
339 information:

340 1. The applicant's federal employer identification number
341 and, if applicable, ~~the applicant's~~ state sales tax registration
342 number.

343 2. The proposed permanent location of the applicant's
344 facility in this state at which the project ~~is or~~ is to be
345 located.

346 3. A description of the type of business activity or
347 product covered by the project, including a minimum of a five-
348 digit NAICS code for all activities included in the project. As
349 used in this paragraph, "NAICS" means those classifications
350 contained in the North American Industry Classification System,
351 as published in 2007 by the Office of Management and Budget,
352 Executive Office of the President, and updated periodically.

353 4. The proposed number of net new full-time equivalent
354 Florida jobs at the qualified target industry business as of
355 December 31 of each year included in the project and the average
356 wage of those jobs. If more than one type of business activity
357 or product is included in the project, the number of jobs and
358 average wage for those jobs must be separately stated for each
359 type of business activity or product.

360 5. The total number of full-time equivalent employees
361 employed by the applicant in this state, if applicable.

362 6. The anticipated commencement date of the project.

363 7. A brief statement explaining concerning the role that
364 the estimated tax refunds to be requested will play in the
365 decision of the applicant to locate or expand in this state.

366 8. An estimate of the proportion of the sales resulting
367 from the project that will be made outside this state.

368 9. A resolution adopted by the governing board of the
369 county or municipality in which the project will be located,
370 which resolution recommends that the project ~~certains types of~~
371 ~~businesses~~ be approved as a qualified target industry business
372 and specifies states that the commitments of local financial
373 support necessary for the target industry business exist. Before
374 ~~in advance of~~ the passage of such resolution, the office may
375 also accept an official letter from an authorized local economic
376 development agency that endorses the proposed target industry
377 project and pledges that sources of local financial support for
378 such project exist. For the purposes of making pledges of local
379 financial support under this subparagraph subsection, the
380 authorized local economic development agency shall be officially
381 designated by the passage of a one-time resolution by the local
382 governing board authority.

383 10. Any additional information requested by the office.

384 (b) To qualify for review by the office, the application
385 of a target industry business must, at a minimum, establish the
386 following to the satisfaction of the office:

387 1.a. The jobs proposed to be created provided under the
388 application, pursuant to subparagraph (a)4., must pay an
389 estimated annual average wage equaling at least 115 percent of
390 the average private sector wage in the area where the business

391 is to be located or the statewide private sector average wage.
392 In determining the average annual wage, the office shall include
393 only new proposed jobs, and wages for existing jobs shall be
394 excluded from this calculation.

395 b. The office may waive the average wage requirement at
396 the request of the local governing body recommending the project
397 and Enterprise Florida, Inc. The office may waive the wage
398 requirement ~~may only be waived~~ for a project located in a
399 brownfield area designated under s. 376.80 or in a rural city,
400 rural community, ~~or county~~ or ~~in an~~ enterprise zone ~~and~~ only if
401 ~~when~~ the merits of the individual project or the specific
402 circumstances in the community in relationship to the project
403 warrant such action. If the local governing body and Enterprise
404 Florida, Inc., make such a recommendation, it must be
405 transmitted in writing, and the specific justification for the
406 waiver recommendation must be explained. If the ~~office director~~
407 elects to waive the wage requirement, the waiver must be stated
408 in writing, and the reasons for granting the waiver must be
409 explained.

410 2. The target industry business's project must result in
411 the creation of at least 10 jobs at ~~the such~~ project and, in the
412 case of if an expansion of an existing business, must result in
413 a net increase in employment of at least 10 percent at the
414 business. ~~Notwithstanding the definition of the term "expansion~~
415 ~~of an existing business" in paragraph (1)(g),~~ At the request of
416 the local governing body recommending the project and Enterprise
417 Florida, Inc., the office may waive this requirement for a
418 business ~~define an "expansion of an existing business"~~ in a
419 rural community or ~~an~~ enterprise zone ~~as the expansion of a~~
420 ~~business resulting in a net increase in employment of less than~~
421 ~~10 percent at such business~~ if the merits of the individual
422 project or the specific circumstances in the community in
423 relationship to the project warrant such action. If the local
424 governing body and Enterprise Florida, Inc., make such a
425 request, the request must be transmitted in writing, and the
426 specific justification for the request must be explained. If the
427 ~~office director~~ elects to grant the request, the grant must be
428 stated in writing, and the reason for granting the request must
429 be explained.

430 3. The business activity or product for the applicant's
431 project ~~must be~~ is within an industry ~~or industries that have~~
432 ~~been~~ identified by the office as a target industry business ~~to~~
433 ~~be high-value-added industries~~ that contributes ~~contribute to~~
434 ~~the area and~~ to the economic growth of the state and the area in
435 which the business is located, that produces ~~produce~~ a higher

436 standard of living for residents of this state in the new global
437 economy, or that can be shown to make an equivalent contribution
438 to the area's area and state's economic progress. ~~The director~~
439 ~~must approve requests to waive the wage requirement for~~
440 ~~brownfield areas designated under s. 376.80 unless it is~~
441 ~~demonstrated that such action is not in the public interest.~~

442 (c) Each application meeting the requirements of paragraph
443 (b) must be submitted to the office for determination of
444 eligibility. The office shall review and evaluate each
445 application based on, but not limited to, the following
446 criteria:

447 1. Expected contributions to the state's economy,
448 consistent with the state strategic economic development plan
449 adopted by Enterprise Florida, Inc., ~~taking into account the~~
450 ~~long-term effects of the project and of the applicant on the~~
451 ~~state economy.~~

452 2. The return on investment of the proposed award of tax
453 refunds under this section and the return on investment for
454 state incentives proposed for the project. The Office of
455 Economic and Demographic Research shall review and evaluate the
456 methodology and model used to calculate the return on investment
457 and report its findings by September 1 of every 3rd year,
458 beginning September 1, 2010, to the President of the Senate and
459 the Speaker of the House of Representatives ~~economic benefit of~~
460 ~~the jobs created by the project in this state, taking into~~
461 ~~account the cost and average wage of each job created.~~

462 3. The amount of capital investment to be made by the
463 applicant in this state.

464 4. The local financial commitment and support for the
465 project.

466 5. The effect of the project on the ~~local community,~~
467 ~~taking into account the~~ unemployment rate in for the county
468 where the project will be located.

469 6. The effect of the award ~~any tax refunds granted~~
470 ~~pursuant to this section~~ on the viability of the project and the
471 probability that the project would ~~will~~ be undertaken in this
472 state if such tax refunds are granted to the applicant, ~~taking~~
473 ~~into account the expected long-term commitment of the applicant~~
474 ~~to economic growth and employment in this state.~~

475 7. The expected long-term commitment of the applicant to
476 economic growth and employment in ~~to~~ this state resulting from
477 the project.

478 8. A review of the business's past activities in this
479 state or other states, including whether such business has been
480 subjected to criminal or civil fines and penalties. This

481 subparagraph does not require the disclosure of confidential
482 information.

483 (d) Applications shall be reviewed and certified pursuant
484 to s. 288.061. The office shall include in its review
485 projections of the tax refunds the business would be eligible to
486 receive in each fiscal year based on the creation and
487 maintenance of the net new Florida jobs specified in
488 subparagraph (a)4. as of December 31 of the preceding state
489 fiscal year. If appropriate, the ~~office director~~ shall enter
490 into a written agreement with the qualified target industry
491 business pursuant to subsection ~~(5)~~ (4).

492 (e) The ~~office director~~ may not certify any target
493 industry business as a qualified target industry business if the
494 value of tax refunds to be included in that letter of
495 certification exceeds the available amount of authority to
496 certify new businesses as determined in s. 288.095(3). However,
497 if the commitments of local financial support represent less
498 than 20 percent of the eligible tax refund payments, or to
499 otherwise preserve the viability and fiscal integrity of the
500 program, the ~~office director~~ may certify a qualified target
501 industry business to receive tax refund payments of less than
502 the allowable amounts specified in paragraph ~~(3)~~(2)(b). A letter
503 of certification that approves an application must specify the
504 maximum amount of tax refund that will be available to the
505 qualified industry business in each fiscal year and the total
506 amount of tax refunds that will be available to the business for
507 all fiscal years.

508 (f) This section does not create a presumption that an
509 applicant ~~will shall~~ receive any tax refunds under this section.
510 However, the office may issue nonbinding opinion letters, upon
511 the request of prospective applicants, as to the applicants'
512 eligibility and the potential amount of refunds.

513 ~~(5)~~(4) TAX REFUND AGREEMENT. -

514 (a) Each qualified target industry business must enter
515 into a written agreement with the office ~~that which~~ specifies,
516 at a minimum:

517 1. The total number of full-time equivalent jobs in this
518 state that will be dedicated to the project, the average wage of
519 those jobs, the definitions that will apply for measuring the
520 achievement of these terms during the pendency of the agreement,
521 and a time schedule or plan for when such jobs will be in place
522 and active in this state.

523 2. The maximum amount of tax refunds ~~that which~~ the
524 qualified target industry business is eligible to receive on the
525 project and the maximum amount of a tax refund that the

526 qualified target industry business is eligible to receive for
527 each fiscal year, based on the job creation and maintenance
528 schedule specified in subparagraph 1.

529 3. That the office may review and verify the financial and
530 personnel records of the qualified target industry business to
531 ascertain whether that business is in compliance with this
532 section.

533 4. The date by which, in each fiscal year, the qualified
534 target industry business may file a claim under subsection (6)
535 ~~(5)~~ to be considered to receive a tax refund in the following
536 fiscal year.

537 5. That local financial support will be annually available
538 and will be paid to the account. The ~~office director~~ may not
539 enter into a written agreement with a qualified target industry
540 business if the local financial support resolution is not passed
541 by the local governing ~~body authority~~ within 90 days after ~~the~~
542 ~~office he or she~~ has issued the letter of certification under
543 subsection (4) ~~(3)~~.

544 6. That the office may conduct a review of the business to
545 evaluate whether the business is continuing to contribute to the
546 area's or state's economy.

547 7. That in the event the business does not complete the
548 agreement, the business will provide the office with the reasons
549 the business was unable to complete the agreement.

550 (b) Compliance with the terms and conditions of the
551 agreement is a condition precedent for the receipt of a tax
552 refund each year. The failure to comply with the terms and
553 conditions of the tax refund agreement results in the loss of
554 eligibility for receipt of all tax refunds previously authorized
555 under this section and the revocation by the ~~office director~~ of
556 the certification of the business entity as a qualified target
557 industry business, unless the business is eligible to receive
558 and elects to accept a prorated refund under paragraph (6)(e)
559 ~~(5)(d)~~ or the office grants the business an economic recovery
560 extension ~~economic-stimulus-exemption~~.

561 1. A qualified target industry business may submit, ~~in~~
562 ~~writing~~, a request to the office for an economic recovery
563 extension ~~economic-stimulus-exemption~~. The request must provide
564 quantitative evidence demonstrating how negative economic
565 conditions in the business's industry, the effects of ~~the impact~~
566 ~~of~~ a named hurricane or tropical storm, or specific acts of
567 terrorism affecting the qualified target industry business have
568 prevented the business from complying with the terms and
569 conditions of its tax refund agreement.

570 2. Upon receipt of a request under subparagraph 1., the

571 office has ~~director shall have~~ 45 days to notify the requesting
572 business, in writing, whether if its extension exemption has
573 been granted or denied. In determining whether if an extension
574 exemption should be granted, the office director shall consider
575 the extent to which negative economic conditions in the
576 requesting business's industry have occurred in the state or the
577 effects of ~~the impact of~~ a named hurricane or tropical storm or
578 specific acts of terrorism affecting the qualified target
579 industry business have prevented the business from complying
580 with the terms and conditions of its tax refund agreement. The
581 office shall consider current employment statistics for this
582 state by industry, including whether the business's industry had
583 substantial job loss during the prior year, when determining
584 whether an extension exemption shall be granted.

585 3. As a condition for receiving a prorated refund under
586 paragraph (6)(e) ~~(5)(d)~~ or an economic recovery extension
587 economic-stimulus-exemption under this paragraph, a qualified
588 target industry business must agree to renegotiate its tax
589 refund agreement with the office to, at a minimum, ensure that
590 the terms of the agreement comply with current law and office
591 procedures governing application for and award of tax refunds.
592 Upon approving the award of a prorated refund or granting an
593 economic recovery extension economic-stimulus-exemption, the
594 office shall renegotiate the tax refund agreement with the
595 business as required by this subparagraph. When amending the
596 agreement of a business receiving an economic recovery extension
597 economic-stimulus-exemption, the office may extend the duration
598 of the agreement for a period not to exceed 2 years.

599 4. A qualified target industry business may submit a
600 request for an economic recovery extension economic-stimulus
601 exemption to the office in lieu of any tax refund claim
602 scheduled to be submitted after January 1, 2009, but before July
603 1, 2012 2011.

604 5. A qualified target industry business that receives an
605 economic recovery extension economic-stimulus-exemption may not
606 receive a tax refund for the period covered by the extension
607 exemption.

608 (c) The agreement must be signed by the director and by an
609 authorized officer of the qualified target industry business
610 within 120 days after the issuance of the letter of
611 certification under subsection (4) ~~(3)~~, but not before passage
612 and receipt of the resolution of local financial support. The
613 office may grant an extension of this period at the written
614 request of the qualified target industry business.

615 (d) The agreement must contain the following legend,

616 clearly printed on its face in bold type of not less than 10
617 points in size: "This agreement is ~~not~~ ~~neither~~ a general
618 obligation of the State of Florida, nor is it backed by the full
619 faith and credit of the State of Florida. Payment of tax refunds
620 ~~is are~~ conditioned on and subject to specific annual
621 appropriations by the Florida Legislature ~~of moneys~~ sufficient
622 to pay amounts authorized in section 288.106, Florida Statutes."

623 ~~(6)(5)~~ ANNUAL CLAIM FOR REFUND.-

624 (a) To be eligible to claim any scheduled tax refund, a
625 qualified target industry business that has entered into a tax
626 refund agreement with the office under subsection ~~(5)~~ ~~(4)~~ must
627 apply by January 31 of each fiscal year to the office for the
628 tax refund scheduled to be paid from the appropriation for the
629 fiscal year that begins on July 1 following the January 31
630 claims-submission date. The office may, upon written request,
631 grant a 30-day extension of the filing date.

632 (b) The claim for refund by the qualified target industry
633 business must include a copy of all receipts pertaining to the
634 payment of taxes for which the refund is sought and data related
635 to achievement of each performance item specified in the tax
636 refund agreement. The amount requested as a tax refund may not
637 exceed the amount specified for the relevant fiscal year in that
638 agreement.

639 (c) The office may waive the requirement for proof of
640 taxes paid in future years for a qualified target industry
641 business that provides the office with proof that, in a single
642 year, the business has paid an amount of state taxes from the
643 categories in paragraph (3)(d) that is at least equal to the
644 total amount of tax refunds that the business may receive
645 through successful completion of its tax refund agreement.

646 ~~(d)(e)~~ A tax refund may not be approved for a qualified
647 target industry business unless the required local financial
648 support has been paid into the account for that refund. If the
649 local financial support provided is less than 20 percent of the
650 approved tax refund, the tax refund must be reduced. In no event
651 may the tax refund exceed an amount that is equal to 5 times the
652 amount of the local financial support received. Further, funding
653 from local sources includes any tax abatement granted to that
654 business under s. 196.1995 or the appraised market value of
655 municipal or county land conveyed or provided at a discount to
656 that business. The amount of any tax refund for such business
657 approved under this section must be reduced by the amount of any
658 such tax abatement granted or the value of the land granted, ~~and~~
659 and the limitations in subsection ~~(3)~~ ~~(2)~~ and paragraph
660 ~~(4)(3)~~(e) must be reduced by the amount of any such tax

661 abatement or the value of the land granted. A report listing all
662 sources of the local financial support shall be provided to the
663 office when such support is paid to the account.

664 ~~(e)(d)~~ A prorated tax refund, less a 5-percent penalty,
665 shall be approved for a qualified target industry business if
666 ~~provided~~ all other applicable requirements have been satisfied
667 and the business proves to the satisfaction of the office
668 ~~director~~ that:

669 1. It has achieved at least 80 percent of its projected
670 employment; and ~~that~~

671 2. The average wage paid by the business is at least 90
672 percent of the average wage specified in the tax refund
673 agreement, but in no case less than 115 percent of the average
674 private sector wage in the area available at the time of
675 certification, or 150 percent or 200 percent of the average
676 private sector wage if the business requested the additional
677 per-job tax refund authorized in paragraph ~~(3)(2)~~(b) for wages
678 above those levels. The prorated tax refund shall be calculated
679 by multiplying the tax refund amount for which the qualified
680 target industry business would have been eligible, if all
681 applicable requirements had been satisfied, by the percentage of
682 the average employment specified in the tax refund agreement
683 which was achieved, and by the percentage of the average wages
684 specified in the tax refund agreement which was achieved.

685 ~~(f)(e)~~ The office director, with such assistance as may be
686 required from ~~the office~~, the Department of Revenue, or the
687 Agency for Workforce Innovation, shall, by June 30 following the
688 scheduled date for submission of the tax refund claim, specify
689 by written order the approval or disapproval of the tax refund
690 claim and, if approved, the amount of the tax refund that is
691 authorized to be paid to the qualified target industry business
692 for the annual tax refund. The office may grant an extension of
693 this date on the request of the qualified target industry
694 business for the purpose of filing additional information in
695 support of the claim.

696 ~~(g)(f)~~ The total amount of tax refund claims approved by
697 the office director under this section in any fiscal year must
698 not exceed the amount authorized under s. 288.095(3).

699 ~~(h)(g)~~ This section does not create a presumption that a
700 tax refund claim will be approved and paid.

701 ~~(i)(h)~~ Upon approval of the tax refund under paragraphs
702 ~~(e)~~, (d), ~~and~~ (e), and (f), the Chief Financial Officer shall
703 issue a warrant for the amount specified in the written order.
704 If the written order is appealed, the Chief Financial Officer
705 may not issue a warrant for a refund to the qualified target

706 industry business until the conclusion of all appeals of that
707 order.

708 ~~(7)(6)~~ ADMINISTRATION.-

709 (a) The office ~~may is authorized to~~ verify information
710 provided in any claim submitted for tax credits under this
711 section with regard to employment and wage levels or the payment
712 of the taxes to the appropriate agency or authority, including
713 the Department of Revenue, the Agency for Workforce Innovation,
714 or any local government or authority.

715 (b) To facilitate the process of monitoring and auditing
716 applications made under this ~~section program~~, the office may
717 provide a list of qualified target industry businesses to the
718 Department of Revenue, to the Agency for Workforce Innovation,
719 or to any local government or authority. The office may request
720 the assistance of those entities with respect to monitoring
721 jobs, wages, and the payment of the taxes listed in subsection
722 ~~(3) (2)~~.

723 (c) Funds specifically appropriated for ~~the tax refunds~~
724 ~~refund program~~ for qualified target industry businesses ~~under~~
725 ~~this section~~ may not be used ~~by the office~~ for any purpose other
726 than the payment of tax refunds authorized by this section.

727 ~~(d) Beginning with tax refund agreements signed after July~~
728 ~~1, 2010, the office shall attempt to ascertain the causes for~~
729 ~~any business's failure to complete its agreement and shall~~
730 ~~report its findings and recommendations to the Governor, the~~
731 ~~President of the Senate, and the Speaker of the House of~~
732 ~~Representatives. The report shall be submitted by December 1 of~~
733 ~~each year beginning in 2011.~~

734 ~~(7) Notwithstanding paragraphs (4)(a) and (5)(c), the~~
735 ~~office may approve a waiver of the local financial support~~
736 ~~requirement for a business located in any of the following~~
737 ~~counties in which businesses received emergency loans~~
738 ~~administered by the office in response to the named hurricanes~~
739 ~~of 2004: Bay, Brevard, Charlotte, DeSoto, Escambia, Flagler,~~
740 ~~Glades, Hardee, Hendry, Highlands, Indian River, Lake, Lee,~~
741 ~~Martin, Okaloosa, Okeechobee, Orange, Osceola, Palm Beach, Polk,~~
742 ~~Putnam, Santa Rosa, Seminole, St. Lucie, Volusia, and Walton. A~~
743 ~~waiver may be granted only if the office determines that the~~
744 ~~local financial support cannot be provided or that doing so~~
745 ~~would effect a demonstrable hardship on the unit of local~~
746 ~~government providing the local financial support. If the office~~
747 ~~grants a waiver of the local financial support requirement, the~~
748 ~~state shall pay 100 percent of the refund due to an eligible~~
749 ~~business. The waiver shall apply for tax refund applications~~
750 ~~made for fiscal years 2004-2005, 2005-2006, and 2006-2007.~~

751 (8) EXPIRATION.-An applicant may not be certified as
752 qualified under this section after June 30, ~~2020~~ 2040. A tax
753 refund agreement existing on that date shall continue in effect
754 in accordance with its terms.

755 Section 2. Subsection (11) of section 159.803, Florida
756 Statutes, is amended to read:

757 159.803 Definitions.-As used in this part, the term:

758 (11) "Florida First Business project" means any project
759 which is certified by the Office of Tourism, Trade, and Economic
760 Development as eligible to receive an allocation from the
761 Florida First Business allocation pool established pursuant to
762 s. 159.8083. The Office of Tourism, Trade, and Economic
763 Development may certify those projects meeting the criteria set
764 forth in s. 288.106(4)(3)(b) or any project providing a
765 substantial economic benefit to this state.

766 Section 3. Paragraph (h) of subsection (1) of section
767 220.191, Florida Statutes, is amended to read:

768 220.191 Capital investment tax credit.-

769 (1) DEFINITIONS.-For purposes of this section:

770 (h) "Qualifying project" means:

771 1. A new or expanding facility in this state which creates
772 at least 100 new jobs in this state and is in one of the high-
773 impact sectors identified by Enterprise Florida, Inc., and
774 certified by the office pursuant to s. 288.108(6), including,
775 but not limited to, aviation, aerospace, automotive, and silicon
776 technology industries;

777 2. A new or expanded facility in this state which is
778 engaged in a target industry designated pursuant to the
779 procedure specified in s. 288.106(2)(t)(4)(e) and which is
780 induced by this credit to create or retain at least 1,000 jobs
781 in this state, provided that at least 100 of those jobs are new,
782 pay an annual average wage of at least 130 percent of the
783 average private sector wage in the area as defined in s.
784 288.106(2)(4), and make a cumulative capital investment of at
785 least \$100 million after July 1, 2005. Jobs may be considered
786 retained only if there is significant evidence that the loss of
787 jobs is imminent. Notwithstanding subsection (2), annual credits
788 against the tax imposed by this chapter shall not exceed 50
789 percent of the increased annual corporate income tax liability
790 or the premium tax liability generated by or arising out of a
791 project qualifying under this subparagraph. A facility that
792 qualifies under this subparagraph for an annual credit against
793 the tax imposed by this chapter may take the tax credit for a
794 period not to exceed 5 years; or

795 3. A new or expanded headquarters facility in this state

796 which locates in an enterprise zone and brownfield area and is
797 induced by this credit to create at least 1,500 jobs which on
798 average pay at least 200 percent of the statewide average annual
799 private sector wage, as published by the Agency for Workforce
800 Innovation or its successor, and which new or expanded
801 headquarters facility makes a cumulative capital investment in
802 this state of at least \$250 million.

803 Section 4. Paragraph (e) of subsection (1), subsection
804 (2), paragraphs (a) and (d) of subsection (4), and paragraph (b)
805 of subsection (5) of section 288.107, Florida Statutes, are
806 amended to read:

807 288.107 Brownfield redevelopment bonus refunds.-

808 (1) DEFINITIONS.-As used in this section:

809 (e) "Eligible business" means:

810 1. A qualified target industry business as defined in s.

811 288.106(2)(1)(e); or

812 2. A business that can demonstrate a fixed capital
813 investment of at least \$2 million in mixed-use business
814 activities, including multiunit housing, commercial, retail, and
815 industrial in brownfield areas, or at least \$500,000 in
816 brownfield areas that do not require site cleanup, and that
817 ~~which~~ provides benefits to its employees.

818 (2) BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT BONUS REFUND.-Bonus refunds
819 shall be approved by the office as specified in the final order
820 ~~issued by the director~~ and allowed from the account as follows:

821 (a) A bonus refund of \$2,500 shall be allowed to any
822 qualified target industry business as defined in by s. 288.106
823 for each new Florida job created in a brownfield area that which
824 is claimed on the qualified target industry business's annual
825 refund claim authorized in s. 288.106(6)(5).

826 (b) A bonus refund of up to \$2,500 shall be allowed to any
827 other eligible business as defined in subparagraph (1)(e)2. for
828 each new Florida job created in a brownfield area that which is
829 claimed under an annual claim procedure similar to the annual
830 refund claim authorized in s. 288.106(6)(5). The amount of the
831 refund shall be equal to 20 percent of the average annual wage
832 for the jobs created.

833 (4) PAYMENT OF BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT BONUS REFUNDS.-

834 (a) To be eligible to receive a bonus refund for new
835 Florida jobs created in a brownfield area, a business must have
836 been certified as a qualified target industry business under s.
837 288.106 or eligible business as defined in paragraph (1)(e) and
838 must have indicated on the qualified target industry business
839 tax refund application form submitted in accordance with s.
840 288.106(4)(3) or other similar agreement for other eligible

841 business as defined in paragraph (1)(e) that the project for
842 which the application is submitted is or will be located in a
843 brownfield area and that the business is applying for
844 certification as a qualified brownfield business under this
845 section, and must have signed a qualified target industry
846 business tax refund agreement with the office ~~that~~ ~~which~~
847 indicates that the business has been certified as a qualified
848 target industry business located in a brownfield area and
849 specifies the schedule of brownfield redevelopment bonus refunds
850 that the business may be eligible to receive in each fiscal
851 year.

852 (d) After entering into a tax refund agreement as provided
853 in s. 288.106 or other similar agreement for other eligible
854 businesses as defined in paragraph (1)(e), an eligible business
855 may receive brownfield redevelopment bonus refunds from the
856 account pursuant to s. 288.106(3)(d)~~(2)(e)~~.

857 (5) ADMINISTRATION.-

858 (b) To facilitate the process of monitoring and auditing
859 applications made under this program, the office may provide a
860 list of qualified target industry businesses to the Department
861 of Revenue, to the Agency for Workforce Innovation, to the
862 Department of Environmental Protection, or to any local
863 government authority. The office may request the assistance of
864 those entities with respect to monitoring the payment of the
865 taxes listed in s. 288.106(3)~~(2)~~.

866 Section 5. Paragraph (s) of subsection (2) of section
867 288.1089, Florida Statutes, is amended to read:

868 288.1089 Innovation Incentive Program.-

869 (2) As used in this section, the term:

870 (s) "Rural area" means a rural city ~~or~~ rural community,
871 ~~or rural county~~ as defined in s. 288.106.

872 Section 6. Section 290.00677, Florida Statutes, is amended
873 to read:

874 290.00677 Rural enterprise zones; special qualifications.-

875 (1) Notwithstanding the enterprise zone residency
876 requirements set out in s. 212.096(1)(c), eligible businesses as
877 defined ~~in by~~ s. 212.096(1)(a)~~,~~ located in rural enterprise
878 zones as defined ~~in by~~ s. 290.004~~,~~ may receive the basic minimum
879 credit provided under s. 212.096 for creating a new job and
880 hiring a person residing within the jurisdiction of a rural
881 community county, as defined ~~in by~~ s. 288.106(2)~~(1)(r)~~. All
882 other provisions of s. 212.096, including, but not limited to,
883 those relating to the award of enhanced credits, apply to such
884 businesses.

885 (2) Notwithstanding the enterprise zone residency

886 requirements set out in s. 220.03(1)(q), businesses as defined
887 in by s. 220.03(1)(c), located in rural enterprise zones as
888 defined in s. 290.004, may receive the basic minimum credit
889 provided under s. 220.181 for creating a new job and hiring a
890 person residing within the jurisdiction of a rural community
891 ~~county~~, as defined in by s. 288.106(2)(1)(r). All other
892 provisions of s. 220.181, including, but not limited to, those
893 relating to the award of enhanced credits, apply to such
894 businesses.

895 Section 7. This act shall take effect July 1, 2010.

CODING: Words ~~stricken~~ are deletions; words underlined are additions.